Editorial:




WORK REDEEMS
Global civil society like peace is a modern invention. Jammu Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society (CCS) was founded with the aim to become a part of the global civil society now acclaimed as superpower by “The Economist” for promoting peace, democracy, civil rights, transparency & accountability in the society and also for non- conflict resolution of Kashmir. We believe that a vibrant civil society is essential for the lasting and durable solution of Kashmir. As politicians have failed in it, they have become a part of the problem. They have a history of making compromises and sellouts. The initiative was aimed at engaging and activating the docile civil society about the important issues being confronted by the people. A considerable section of the society are feeling completely hostage to the politicians (both mainstream and pro-freedom) who are not coming to their expectations and are not representing their aspirations. These politicians have taken people for granted. The idea was of laying a think tank to influence government & political organizations by generating public opinion, which is the only weapon of CCS. It was based on the motto “If we dream alone, it is a dream and if we dream together, it is a beginning of a reality”. In the conflict area, where activities are controlled, political parties seem aligned to one or the other side, promoting their agenda and their interests, creating space for the independent initiative with innovative ideas was a gigantic task. Notwithstanding, CCS to some extent has made the break through and now has been recognized as an independent initiative without any hidden agenda and with its policies transparent and appealing. At the beginning the pro-freedom politicians welcomed the initiative, though there was a distrust and suspicion in a section of the society. The politicians for the reasons that CCS will be an appendage to them as CCS is not a political organization and hence not for power so it was not detrimental to their interests. At the people’s level, any initiative in Jammu Kashmir is being seen with suspicion, because of the historical background. It has become a part of our culture. For many, important is not the aim and objectives but the people constituting the initiative, their background and bio-data.

But due to its hard work from last six years, CCS has emerged as a respectable voice and it is that which has caused anxiety & reaction. The pro-freedom politicians, who were disappointed for not roping in the CCS, are now indifferent and want to discourage it. They have now realized that the vibrant civil society is seeking transparency and accountability from them. They are not used to it. Intact they have no concept about the role of civil society.

On the other hand, the government has other reasons. The government understands the far-reaching implications of a vibrant civil society in Jammu Kashmir, which is explicitly challenging the occupation, militarization and emerging as a resistant group with external support and which is & will be beyond their control. Since government cannot declare it as an unlawful assembly as CCS is not advocating any form of violence. Government is also conscious that CCS has alliances in different European and other countries and is respected there and it is not confined as a typical NGO working in a district or a state. But since the government has the art of stifling the dissent, they are using the other modes, for demoralizing the initiative. Almost every month, officials from different intelligence agencies visit the CCS office and politely ask the names of the office bearers of the executive, people working in the office, dossiers, account statements, even the passports have been with held (and passport holders in CCS are unlikely to get new passports), the telephones are taped, emails monitored and all the activities of CCS are under surveillance. Even, one higher-ranking police officer has taken CCS as a personal challenge as he has said, “it will be fixed soon”.

Government now has decided to target the hard earned credibility of the CCS that too after the expulsion of some office bearers who had violated the code of conduct. The government controlled and corporate media also have launched vicious mudslinging, disinformation campaign and it seems to continue. What should be the response is the dilemma being faced by CCS presently. Do we drag into the allegations and counter allegations but there will be no end to it. Do we ignore as advised by the well wishers of the CCS, while some have advised that there should be a public response to the allegations other wise it will damage the credibility of the CCS. Since CCS has a mission, vision, short-term and long-term goal, it has to behave responsibly and not fall in the trap of the reactionaries who wittingly or unwittingly are pleasing the government. Differences do happen in the organizations, if it is because of the ideological basis then it is normal but if it because of personal issues, then it is failure. Unfortunately, the differences are more on the personal levels then on the issues. CCS is conscious that the resistant movements across the world have no smooth sailing; they have to face the odds. Now it is a challenge for the CCS and we have to overcome this problem in a decent, dignified and responsible manner without affecting our work, which is the prime concern of CCS. Our work will redeem us to the people. The best response is the quality of work, the programs that can silence them.

COERCION BY INDIAN ARMY, DRIVER KILLED 

On December 25, 2006 a Sumo driver was killed during the cross firing between the militants and the Indian armed forces while he was ferrying the troopers of the army to a cordon and search operation in Letar Pulwama. The deceased was identified as Mukhtar Ahmad Sheikh, 19, son of Mushtaq Ahmad resident of Batapora, Shopian, approximately 53 kilometers away from Srinagar. Mukhtar was forced to ferry the army in the morning of December 25 when he was on his way to Srinagar. The residents of the area demonstrated against the excesses committed by the army and alleged that coercion of the drivers has been a routine activity of the army over the last 16 years of the armed conflict. 

Mushtaq Ahmad Sheikh, 60, father of the deceased while talking to The Informative Missive said, “On the fateful day of December 25 Mukhtar left for the Sumo taxi stand, Shopian along with his vehicle bearing registration number JK03/8522. From the stand he boarded in passengers and left for Srinagar. On the way to Srinagar, his vehicle was stopped by the troops of 55 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) army camped in proximity to the District Commissioner’s office, Pulwama. The soldiers ceased the car documents and forced him to ferry them to Letar area where a cordon and search operation was going on. He told them that he would drop the passengers in Srinagar and would come back. However without the vehicle documents, it was not advisable to move to Srinagar because of security reasons. Mukhtar dropped the passengers at Pulwama market and went back to the army camp. From the 55 RR camp, some army men board his vehicle and ordered him to move towards Letar Pulwama where a cordon and search operation was going on. Mukhtar ferried the troops from the camp to the operation site for the whole day and at 5:45 pm, militants opened the fire on the sumo vehicle at Rakh Letar Pulwama. In the exchange of fire between army and militants, Mukhtar got hit by the bullets in the chest and was severely injured. The exchange of fire lasted for half an hour and after the firing, the army men rushed the wounded soldiers and Mukhtar to Badami Bagh (BB) Cantonment Hospital, Srinagar. On reaching the hospital Mukhtar succumbed to his injuries. Army is responsible for the killing of my son, if army wouldn’t have coerced him, he would have been alive today”. 

Mushtaq further adds, “From the BB-Cantonment Srinagar his dead body was taken to Police station Kakpora but the it was not identified there and then it was shifted to Police Station Pulwama, where from it was finally brought to Police station Shopian during the intervening night of 25th and 26th December. Some cops of the police station had identified the dead body, as they knew Mukhtar very well. On December 26 in the morning, the news about Mukhtar’s killing spread in the whole area. The killing enraged the people of the area and people including transporters from all the nearby villages took to the streets and started to protest against the killing and the coercion of the army. The drivers suspended transport services and raised slogans with black flags (mark of sorrow & protest) hoisted on top of their vehicles. The demonstrators brought his dead body to home. After performing the funeral rites we buried his dead body in our native graveyard. The shopkeepers and transporters told us that they would go for indefinite strike but we did not let them do so because it was the occasion of the holy festival of Eid. We did not want to spoil the festive atmosphere of the Eid in the area.

Zaina, 45, mother of the deceased told The Informative Missive, “In the morning of December 25, I was rubbing oil on my son’s hair. While rubbing oil he said, “Boba (mother), I would come back quickly because I have to pay finance installment of the vehicle and then I would go to my maternal grandparent’s home for the night”. I was waiting for his return but I did not know that he would leave me forever. He was the only hope to the family and all the family responsibilities were lying on him. Mukhtar had to start working at a tender age after my husband fell ill. He studied up to 10th standard at Shahi-e-Hamdan School Batapora and then quit his study because of poverty. He was an intelligent and hardworking person as he was able to speak many languages and was excellent at every subject but lack of financial support didn’t let him to study further. My husband had been working as a tailor and it was hard for him to manage the family expenses. He had been suffering from ulcers and kidney cysts for the last 20 years and due to which he was not able to work properly. He quite the tailoring work but there was no other person who could support the family then Mukhtar took the responsibility of running the house hold affairs. He had been supporting the family for the last two years but now who would come for our help? From the very moment of my son’s killing my husband’s health condition deteriorated. I am agonized that who will help us and contribute for the study and marriage of Fozia, my daughter”.

“Concerning the incident, the police post Lassipora Pulwama lodged an FIR vide number 441/2006. Mukhtar was carrying a cell phone of worth rupees 10,000, driving license, identity card and some cash which was given to him by the owner of vehicle Mohammad  Rafiq Khan for paying the finance installment of the vehicle. The army except the driving license took all of these things. Only the driving license was given back by the police”, grumbled Mushtaq, father of the slain Mukhtar.

“After the day long protests on December 26, the Sub-Division Police Officer and the Sub-District Magistrate failed to convince the protesting drivers to call off their protest despite assurances that their demands would be fulfilled. District Development Commissioner Pulwama and Tehsildar reached to Shopian late in the evening. Sumo drivers refused to stop their protest and start transport services. They were demanding an assurance from district authorities that security forces shall not use their vehicles. Even the concerned Member of Legislative Assembly (MLA) visited the aggrieved family and assured the drivers of the area that action would be taken against the army atrocities in the area. But all in vain”, expressed one of the relatives of slain Mukhtar. 

A group of drivers while narrating their grievances to The Informative Missive said, “Coercion is a routine process in the area since the beginning of the armed conflict in Jammu & Kashmir state. They have been doing this for a long time now. Initially in 1990’s, we were providing three vehicles turn wise to three camps daily; the camps were Para 2 camp Chogam, 44RR camp Chogam and 44RR Pahan. Even after providing the vehicles, we were not paid a penny and were being maltreated, abused or sometimes thrashed by the army troops. More often our vehicles are being stopped at Chogam and Batapora army camps whenever we are carrying the passengers to Pulwama or Srinagar. After stopping our vehicles passengers are disembarked and then army men board our vehicles and take us to different operational locations. Such a wicked act imperils our life and our family members always remain worried about our lives. We are not here for ferrying security men to operation sites. If army has its own vehicles, why do they put the lives of the civilian drivers in the danger? Due to the rampant coercion, we closed our two travel routes, Harpora and Sedav, on these routes our vehicles were taken   by the army for weeks and weeks and no fare or maintenance of vehicles was provided and nowadays we don’t drive our vehicles on these routes. It seems we are living in a hell. Mukhtar was killed and next time there might be the turn of another person. We approached many high ups of the administration but all in vain. Even our concerned MLA could not do anything. Some higher officials of the army told us that they won’t use local vehicles but still they are continuing to do so. To pacify us the District Commissioner assured us of meeting our demands and asked us to discuss the issue with him.  However, neither the issue was discussed nor was help provided by the administration”.
TWO BOYS ARRESTED IN NEW DELHI, LABELLED AS LASHKAR MILITANTS
On December 11 2006, two boys were arrested in New Delhi by the Indian intelligence men and an amount of rupees five lakh (5 hundred thousand) and some RDX (explosive material) was claimed to be recovered from their possession. Whereas the families of the arrested persons assert that the boys are innocent and had visited Delhi for the repairing of a video camera and the duo were no way linked to any militant organization. The duo were identified as Gulzar Ahmad Ganai 19, a BA 2nd year student, son of Abdul Hameed, resident of Raipora - Palhalan, Pattan and Mohammad Amin Hajam, a junior assistant in the department of revenue, son of Ali Mohammad Hajam , resident of  Arampora Sopore.

Abdul Hameed Ganai, father of arrested Gulzar while speaking to The Informative Missive said, “On November 23, Gulzar’s friend Mohammad Amin Hajam asked Gulzar to accompany him to Jammu as he (Amin) had some official work there. My son accompanied him and they left for Jammu. After reaching to Jammu they stayed there for five days and were in contact with us through telephone. On the fifth day they made a phone call and said that they would leave for Delhi because the Jammu-Srinagar highway was closed due to the bad weather conditions. They had to come back to Kashmir but due to the closure of the road they could not come back and decided to go to Delhi for repairing Mohammad Amin’s video camera until the highway would be restored. On the last phone call, they also said that they are going to JVC dealers, a repairing centre situated in New Delhi. After five days when they did not call us, we became worried and waited for their phone call anxiously. On the fateful day of December 11, I was watching the prime time Doordarshan news in which it was said that two Lashkar-e- Toiba (LeT) militants have been arrested in New Delhi along with an amount of rupees 5 lakh and some RDX. When both the boys were shown on the screen and their names revealed, they were Gulzar & Amin. I was frightened and got nervous as how the innocent boys were entangled in the matter. Same news was aired in different news channels and even broadcasted on the radio. Next day in the morning I rushed to the Police Station Pattan and intimated them about the arrests in New Delhi. The police station filed a report concerning the arrest and said that they won’t do anything because the arrests were carried out in Delhi and state police has no jurisdiction in the matter. We then approached the local media, Greater Kashmir, Srinagar Times and Alsafa wherein we highlighted the arrest of the innocent boys. The news was published on December 13 in the said dailies but proved of no help. We also approached MLA Ghulam Hassan Mir and sought his help for the release of our son; he responded that he will raise the issue in the Legislative Assembly but nothing happened. We also sought the help of NC (national Conference) leader Mustafa Kamal for their release but all in vain. The government high ups only gave us lame assurances. I was not aware of my son’s plight and the place he was detained in. I could not approach the authorities in New Delhi because I had no money to travel to Delhi. I am living beyond the lines of poverty as I am myself associated with tailoring and what ever I earn I spend that on my family and despite this most of our family requirements remain unfulfilled. Fortunately, a youth belonging to Srinagar had been released from Tihar Jail. The released person had a fellow prisoner who was residing at Tapper Pattan, just few kilometers from our village. Tapper prisoner had told the Srinagar youth to convey to his family that Gulzar is in Jail Number 5 of Tihar Jail. Finally we were informed by the Tapper family about Gulzar’s detention in Tihar Jail”.


“Now I had to go to Delhi but I am perplexed if I go to Delhi to ascertain the whereabouts of my son, who will look after my family here. I have never gone to Delhi; even this was my son’s first visit to Delhi and he was keen to see the capital of the country but we did not know that destiny had something else stored for us. After Gulzar’s arrest, the army troops camped at Usan Pattan raided our house many times. They searched our house and ransacked our households. They enquired us about Gulzar’s activities and asked about his arrest. We responded that Gulzar is innocent and we don’t know how he got trapped in this matter. After continuous raids army troops ordered me to visit their camp and I was often called to the Usan camp where I was questioned by the army officers about my son’s involvements. Every time I answered that my son is innocent and was never linked to any militancy related activity. Soldiers call me in the morning and then allow me to meet their officer at 3 or 4 o’clock. Hungry and thirsty I am being kept outside the camp and not given any food or water. Army and local police scrutinized all the involvements of Gulzar but could not prove anything wrong against him. Even some of the soldiers of the Usan army camp knew Gulzar very well because his maternal grandparent’s home is lying in proximity to the said camp and on his every visit there, they noticed him. My son was studying in the degree college Baramulla in the B.Sc 2nd year and had to appear in his annual exams. My son came in contact with Mohammad Amin Hajam at the Tehsil office Pattan. Gulzar was often visiting tehsil office concerning our land transactions and there he became Amin’s friend. They were very close to each other over the period of last 12 months. My son was never associated to any unlawful activity or he was never charged of any kind of offence. Nothing illicit was found against him but still he is languishing in Tihar Jail. I am worried, who would come for my help and would get my innocent son released”, told Abdul Hamid. 

FATHER OF SIX DAUGHTERS SHOT DEAD 

On December 24 2006, a person was shot dead by an unidentified gunman in the broad day light outside a mosque at Shooch village of Pattan, Baramulla, 38 kilometers from Srinagar. The deceased was identified as Ghulam Mohiuddin Dar, 50, son of Abdul Sattar Dar, resident of Batapora, Tangmarg. The residents of the village protested the killing, as they believed that Ghulam Mohiuddin was innocent.  The family and the villagers suspect that the perpetrator was a militant.


The Informative Missive reporter visited the area and tried to talk to the family members and other relatives of the deceased. When the family was asked about the perpetration of the killing they refused to utter anything because of the distrust. They said why the details of the killings are taken as they had the notion that there are people who took the details of killed persons for extracting money on their names and for the reason they refused to say anything. After a lot of persuasion, they agreed to divulge the details of the incident. 

Raja, 40, wife of the deceased while talking to The Informative Missive said, “In the morning of December 24, I had come to my maternal home at Shooch village, Pattan along with my husband. It was noon, we were having lunch, meanwhile there was the prayer call at 12:45 and my husband hurriedly finished his food. After performing the ablution, he rushed to the Jamia Mosque of the village for offering prayers. After offering the prayers he came out of the mosque and was tying the lacing of his shoes on the veranda of the mosque, meanwhile a masked person came towards my husband and took out a pistol from his socks. He clutched my husband’s collar and fired two pistol shots in the head of my husband. My husband received two bullets on the right side of the forehead, causing his death on the spot. Chaos prevailed and the perpetrator fled away before anybody could identify him. Police shifted Mohiuddin to Sub- District hospital, Pattan where he was declared brought dead. The body was shifted to police station Pattan and then later to Tangmarg Police station. We brought the dead body to our home. Police station Tangmarg lodged an FIR concerning the killing. As per rumors in the area it was said that the perpetrator was a militant, but none of the militant organizations claimed the responsibility for the killing.

My husband was the sole bread earner in the family and was feeding our six daughters and a son. He was a farmer and was also a transport agent. Initially he was running a shop but it was not bringing in much profit. He closed the shop and started to look after his farming land and also started with the transport deals. Neither he was associated with militancy nor to any political organization. He was never charged of any unlawful activity or an offence. He was just involved in his farming work and was always helping the needy and destitute people despite having six daughters. He was a philanthropist and a kind person”.

“Out of my seven children five are studying including my son Manzoor Ahmad Dar who is a B.Sc second year student in Degree College Baramulla whereas my younger four daughters study in the primary and secondary classes.  My two elder daughters are associated with carpet weaving and they supported their father in meeting the family expenses. All my daughters are unmarried and now who will assist us and contribute for the education of my children and fulfill the demands of my daughters for their coming marriages”, questioned Raja.


“After my husband’s death, several rumors came up that Mohiuddin might have been linked to an unfair matter and for that reason he was killed, which is totally false and baseless. If anybody in Tangmarg and Pattan area would say that Ghulam Mohiudin was involved in any kind of unlawful activity, then we would ourselves justify his killing but nobody did so or could do so because everybody knows it well that he was innocent and had a benevolent nature”, said the brother in-law of the deceased. 

REVELATIONS OF SHEERI SPO’S KILLING 

Family claims they know perpetrators and want justice
Nageena, 27, wife of late Mohammad Ashraf is living a hard life with her two children in a broken dwelling at Sheeri Baramulla, 75 kilometers from Srinagar. Nageena’s husband Mohammad Ashraf, a Special Police Officer (SPO) was killed on October 22, 2006 by the army and Special Operations Group of Jammu & Kashmir Police at Model Town Sopore when he was driving a sumo vehicle. Mohammad Ashraf was deployed as a security guard to People’s Democratic Party (PDP’s) Zonal president Ghulam Hassan Rather of Sheeri, Baramulla. 

Initially he was a driver and plied private vehicles and then on the recommendation of the said Zonal president he was recruited as a SPO in the police department. The zonal president got him posted at his residence, although being a security guard to the activist; he did drive his private sumo vehicle.

People constantly protested for four days after the incident. The police authorities had assured the family and the protesters that the matter would be investigated but months passed off and nothing has been done. With her grievances and miseries, Nageena approached the office of Public Commission on Human Rights and narrated her tale.

“During the intervening night of 21st and 22nd October, my husband prayed for the whole night of the Holy Shab-e-Qadr in the mosque and in the morning returned home and left for his duty along with the vehicle. On asking him that where he is going? He replied that he has to convey some of the relatives of Ghulam Hassan (Zonal President) to Baramulla and would come back. He boarded three persons from Sheeri and had to go to Baramulla town but unfortunately got killed at Sopore. I don’t understand how he went to Sopore whereas he had to go Baramulla only. After we heard about Ashraf’s death, we rushed to the incident spot in Sopore and then moved to Kupwara, because the perpetrators had taken his dead body to Kupwara Police Station. Finally from the Kupwara Police Station, we received his dead body and the persons who were boarding his vehicle were detained in the same police station. After burying the dead body we again approached the place in Sopore where my husband was killed in order to enquire more about the killing. We talked to some shopkeepers and few drivers who were present at the time of the incident. They (eye witnesses) provided us some clues regarding Ashraf’s killing. Ashraf had parked his vehicle and the persons boarding in came out of the vehicle and were talking to each other on the road. Meanwhile Ashraf told his passengers that he would offer noon prayers. Ashraf was observing fast on the day and after offering prayers he came back to the spot and boarded his vehicle. Meanwhile some cops in another sumo vehicle reached the spot and nabbed the three persons who were boarding Ashraf’s vehicle and asked them to provide the money. Those three persons pointed towards Ashraf and told to the cops that he keeps our money. The cops caught up Ashraf and started to brawl with him over the money. He pleaded for his innocence as he did not have any money and told cops he does not know anything regarding money; meanwhile one of the gunmen shot at Ashraf and killed him mercilessly”. 

Ghulam Hassan, brother in-law of the deceased said, “We deem that the persons who were accompanying Ashraf to Sopore are behind his assassination, because they had entangled Ashraf into some money scam and got him killed. The three persons had lifted the dead body of Ashraf into the sumo and had taken him to Kupwara where the police detained them. The three persons are still under detention in the Kupwara police station and so far they have not been interrogated regarding Ashraf’s murder. One more dubious thing about the incident is that Ashraf was killed in Sopore, why the report was filed in Kupwara Police Station? We also approached police station Sopore and asked the Station House Officer (SHO) why hasn’t he filed the report in Ashraf’s killing? SHO replied that when they arrived at the spot, Ashraf was taken to Kupwara and for that reason they did not file the report”.

Ghulam Hassan further added, “Ashraf was the lone bread earner in the family and was raising his three children, Arif, 13, Aamir, 11, Rukaya, 9 and wife Nageena. Nowadays, there is no one in the family who will earn and support us. Nageena with her children lives in a cracked house that was damaged in the devastating earthquake of October 2005. The family was not given any relief or assistance”. 

“My children have no clothes to wear and I am not in a position so that I could get my children admitted in the School for basic education. I am searching for justice and retribution to the killers of my husband who are under detention in Kupwara police station. Due to the fear I don’t dare to visit Kupwara police station to bring the copy of the FIR so that I would go for the legal action against the culprits. I am distressed, who will come for my help?” questioned Nageena. 
TWO STUDENTS TORTURED IN ILLEGAL DETENTION
In Zandfaran village of district Baramulla, the local police subjected two students to brutal torture after they were detained on December 21 2006. The boys namely Ishfaq Majeed, 14, son of Abdul Majeed and Irshad Ahmad Malik, son of Mohammad Sulaiman Malik were released on bail after eight days of detention.  


Mohammad Yaseen Malik, a social activist stated to The Informative Missive, “On December 21, Ishfaq and Irshad were called by Sub-Inspector Hyder Ali of police station Sheeri, Baramulla. The duo went to the police station where they were asked that they have perpetrated a theft of two VCDs and a box that contained currency coins from their neighbor’s house. The duo pleaded their innocence and denied their involvement. The boys were arrested on the allegations made by a child who saw the thieves after being hypnotized by a conjurer of Pattan area of Baramulla. The inmates of the house where theft took place met a conjurer of Pattan in order to ascertain perpetrators behind the theft. The said conjurer identified the unknown perpetrators by his magic. He puts a cover over the head of the children who are below 14 years of age and beneath the cover they have the revelations of all the past scenes of the criminal activity on the thumbnail of the children. The conjurer asserted that whatever the children said was correct. The conjurer recognized Tariq Ahmad, son of Abdul Majeed and the younger brother of arrested Ishfaq and Irshad. The boys were called. As per conjurer’s revelations, Tariq should have been arrested but due to being a minor (11 years old), Tariq was not arrested and instead his elder brother Ishfaq along with Irshad was arrested. After the boys were detained, police demanded rupees ten thousand each from their parents. But the parents could not afford the said amount. On the same day of the detention, the boys were taken to their native village and were treated in a manner, as they were professional criminals. Police raided and searched both Ishfaq’s and Irshad’s house and seized 9 CDs in Ishfaq’s house. Ishfaq’s mother asked the police personnel why are they taking the CDs? The policemen told her that they looking for some clues and for that they need the CDs and after scrutinizing them they will return the CDs. 


When police demanded money from the parents, Ishfaq’s father rushed to the Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) Vigilance, Srinagar and intimated him about the illegal demands of the police. On December 27, the parents accompanied by Vigilance personnel dressed in civvies visited police station Sheeri. But unfortunately the police already knew that Vigilance personnel are coming to Sheeri. When the parents tried to give the money to the police, they (police) this time refused to take the money. At the same time our family received a phone call from the police through which police said ‘why don’t you get your boys released on bail’. Police was trying to play a sympathetic role towards us in the presence of the Vigilance personnel. Then the parents of the boys went to district court complex, Baramulla and submitted a bail application for the release of the boys. The judge in the court wrote to police to furnish the case details. On the same day when both the families visited the police for collecting case details, the parents were not allowed inside and the guards at the gate said that the Station House Officer (SHO) is not present in the police station. Somehow we ascertained that the police have gone to Zandfaran. The parents rushed to Zandfaran and found the police at the house where theft was perpetrated. The policemen were breaking the window glasses of the house in order to prove that the boys arrested at the time of stealing broke the glasses. In the evening police filed the case against the boys in which they further added to the previous charges against the boys. Police was against us as we had approached the vigilance organization. We contacted SSP Baramulla and informed him. SSP made a phone call to Sheeri police station, however SHO (Hyder Ali) was not in the police station. He was busy in the village and preparing spurious case details against the boys. At around 10 pm, SHO called the family of the boys that he would submit the case details tomorrow in the court, but due to the holiday on December 28, SHO did not furnished the records in the court. Then again in the late night of December 28, SHO again called on phone and told that he would provide case details tomorrow on December 29. He also directed the parents to bring the application, which was issued by the court. Next day one of the relatives of the arrested submitted the court application in the police station and then the police submitted the reports in the court. The judge approved the bail of the detainees and in the evening around 5 o’clock the boys were released on bail. Both the boys looked frail, as they had been subjected to severe torture. The boys bore visible black torture marks all over the body. The boys were arrested on December 21 but the case that was filed by the police shows that the boys were arrested on December 27. The police covered up the previous six days during which they had illegally detained the boys and tortured them. Police got a remand approval from the concerned Tehsildar on December 28, which was an off day. This way police justified their spurious action. 

MAN KILLED IN POLICE FIRING
December 27: Police firing on agitated mob protesting against alleged custodial killing of a man left behind one dead and four others injured in Navapachi area of Marwah in Doda district.

The deceased has been identified as Ghulam Hussain of Dehairna. It may be mentioned here that body of one Mohammad Ramzan Sheikh with some injury marks was recovered from an isolated place in Navapachi on December 26 at around 12 noon sparking widespread protests in the area.

 
Reports said that a large number of people from the adjoining villages assembled at Navapachi and staged a protest demonstration against the killing of a civilian, Mohammad Ramzan Sheikh, whose body was recovered on December 26 by the police from a Nallah.

 
However, people alleged that the villager was arrested and later gunned down by the police, a charge denied by police. 

 
"One the basis of information given by a surrendered ultra, a police team was deployed to arrest an over ground worker but he was not found at his home", said a senior police officer of Doda.

 
He claimed that in the morning police recovered his body from the adjoining area.

 
Reports said, protestors turned violent on December 27 and they started pelting stones on police station Navapachi. Police personnel on guard duty opened fire on the protestors killing one and causing injuries to four others. 

 
Out of the injured civilians, Ghulam Hussain of Dehairna, Marwah died on way to a health center, while two of four injured have been identified as Ghulam Abbas of Kaderna and Ghulam Mohammad of Shangel. 

 
Police said that it was forced to open fire as the angry protestors attacked the police station and pelted stones on the cops deployed on duty. 

 
"The protestors turned violent and even refused to disperse when police first fired in air", said a police officer adding, "Police had to resort to firing when the cops were attacked". 

At least two cops also received injuries in the attack by the mob, he added. 

WOMAN KILLED AFTER MONTH LONG CAPTIVITY

BHADERWAH, December 9: A man from a Doda village has alleged that Rashtriya Rifles soldiers and men from some unidentified security agency working for the local Army unit kidnapped his 24-year-old daughter from a busy market and held her captive for a month before murdering her on December 3. 

The dead woman is Shamima Bano of village Assasi Premnagar, 40 kilometers from Doda district headquarters. Shamima had passed her higher secondary school a month before her abduction, said her father Ghulam Hassan. 

A Forest Range Officer for Bhaderwah Range, Ghulam Hassan said gunmen in civvies traveling in a van without a registration plate kidnapped Shamima from crowded Prem Nagar Market on November 3. Ghulam Hassan said the kidnappers were soldiers, and gunmen working for them, from the 8th batallion of Rashtriya Rifles, Army’s counterinsurgency force. 

“She was my only daughter, very gentle. On the night of October 16, three gunmen entered into my house and one of them introduced himself as Javid Iqbal of Zeehand Gath Doda, a Hizb militant. He said he wanted to marry Shamima. When I said this couldn’t happen, they became furious and threatened me of dire consequences, but they left. My family was very scared and we migrated to Prem Nagar where I rented a room. I immediately informed Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) Doda Manohar Singh about the gunmen who came to my house. He assured me that he would take cognizance of my report. I also lodged an FIR in Police Post Prem Nagar. A few days later Major Kohli from Khankot Post visited my rented residence and inquired about the matter. I explained the whole episode to him,” Hassan said. 

He said he learnt about abduction of Shamima when he was in Doda in connection with an official work. “I and my son Tariq searched for her but of no avail. I again went to SSP Doda who assured me that the girl would be recovered soon,” Hassan said. 
However, a day later, Hassan said, the Brigadier of 4 Sector Rashtriya Rifles summoned him to the Sector headquarters at Sui Gwari. “I narrated the whole story to the Brigadier who instead of listening to me fully abused me and my brother Ghulam Qadir but assured that Shamima would be handed over to us,” he said. 

Hassan said he waited for the return of Shamima because the Brigadier had assured him she would be handed back to the family. 
“Army sent a person to my residence at Prem Nagar and informed that Shamima has committed suicide but her body bore a bullet wound. I got suspicious and I asked Major Kohli who had visited me earlier about Shamima’s death. He grew furious and threatened us of dire consequences if we disclosed it to police or any other agency. Army asked us to bury her silently and we did,” Hassan said. Shamima’s body was recovered from Braswana Gundna forests. 

Hassan said Doda police did nothing for a month to rescue Shamima. “They came as militants and staged the drama of abduction to defame militants,” Ghulam Qadir, Shamima’s uncle said, “they used her as a human shield and held her captive in a house at Braswana where militants used to come often. On that day they staged a fake encounter and killed her.” 

Villagers on condition of anonymity said the army used Shamima as human shield. They demanded a thorough inquiry into the killing and appealed to Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad to order a probe. 

Army spokesman Colonel Gautam of Nagrota-based 16 Corps said Shamima died in crossfire. “Militants had held her captive and on that day she died in crossfire while militants escaped,” he said. 

Manohar Singh, SSP Doda said, “It is a controversial matter and I can’t comment on it. As of now nothing concrete can be said about it; mystery is there.” 

The Deputy Inspector General of police Udhampur-Doda range L.I. Mohanty, however, said, “The woman was used as a human shield by the militants in whose captivity she remained for about a month and the police is looking in to the pros and cons of the possible involvement of the army.”
SOLDIER FIRES AT A BOY

December 10: In south Kashmir’s Islamabad (Anantnag) district a soldier of Army’s Rashtriya Rifles (RR) opened fire on a 16-year-old boy, injuring him critically, following an argument over the checking of his identity card. Police later arrested the soldier. 
Manzoor Ahmed Wani son of Mohammed Abdullah of Bumthan was shot at and wounded by the soldier identified as Mukesh Singh of 36 RR at Mir Bazaar, Qazigund, on the Srinagar-Jammu highway after he entered into an argument during frisking. 
As the squabble was going on, one of the soldiers fired Wani in his abdomen, the eyewitnesses said. 
Wani was admitted to the Sub-District Hospital Islamabad, from where he was referred to the SKIMS, Soura, Srinagar in a critical condition. 
As the news spread, thousands of people came out on streets shouting slogans in favour of freedom from India. The agitators blocked the Srinagar-Jammu highway for nearly three hours. The residents alleged that the soldiers opened fire on Wani when he protested against humiliation and their abusive language during frisking. Senior civil, army and police officials who assured the locals that appropriate action would be taken against the personnel pacified the angry protestors. 
Deputy Commissioner Islamabad, G A Peer visited the spot. He told that the accused trooper Mukesh Singh (belt no 4084712k) has been arrested. Peer said the people of Qazigund had been complaining against the army. He said they were asked by the Army to lift the pheran (Kashmiri traditional winter dress) whenever they see a soldier. 
The people of the area come on to the road and stopped the traffic. Superintendent of Police Kulgam SP Pani immediately rushed to the spot and pacified the protestors. “Keeping in view the gravity of the incident the police has lodged an FIR No. 270 of 2006 in the police station Qazigund under section 307. The weapon of Mukesh Singh (No. 4084-7124) has been seized,” said SP Pani.

ARMY REFUSES TO PARTICIPATE IN INQUIRY INTO BOYS’ KILLING

SRINAGAR, December 13: Army has refused to participate in the inquiry into a firing incident at Doodhipora in Handwara area of Kupwara district on February 22 this year in which soldiers allegedly killed four teenaged boys. 

Passing the orders, inquiry officer Syed Tariq Ahmed Naqshbandi termed as "unfortunate and sad" the army’s intention of not participating in the probe. 

"Had the army taken part in the inquiry, it could have put forward its version regarding the incident. But, having chosen not to do so, the Army has lost an invaluable opportunity of putting forward its defence," he said. 

Mr. Naqshbandi, who is also the District and Sessions Judge, said the inquiry would now go ahead with the recording of evidence of the complainants in support of their statement of facts. 

The next date of hearing has been fixed on January 4. The counsel for the army, Lt. Col. Rajeev Sharma, was not present during the hearing on December 11 and the matter was later posted for December 12 as his presence was awaited in the proceedings. But, he failed to appear before the Commission. However, the orders were passed on December 13. 

Army had once again challenged the jurisdiction of the State Government in ordering a probe and competence of the inquiry officer to investigate the incident after withdrawing the objections earlier on November 11. 

During the previous hearing on November 25, Mr. Naqshbandi had prima facie found the involvement of the army in the incident. 

The inquiry officer had directed the army personnel to appear before the Commission in person to submit their statements and explain their conduct. 

When the matter came up for hearing on December 11, the Judge said the army did not produce statements of defence and supporting material, nor any witnesses instead filed an application. 

He said Lt Col Sharma filed a plea, objecting to notices issued by him against the captain and other personnel of 33 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) stationed at an Army camp at Doodhipora, Handwara. 

The Army sought withdrawal of the notices and expressed its intention not to associate with the probe. It urging that the inquiry officer does not have the competence and the jurisdiction to probe the conduct of army personnel in Jammu and Kashmir in aid of civil powers, Mr. Naqshbandi added. 

The counsel of the complainants, Advocate M A Qayoom, stated his objections to the application filed by the army. 

The judge, in his order, said the army after withdrawing the objections cannot rake up the issue once again or allowed to approbate and reprobate at the same time. 

He said the objections raised by the army in its application on December 11, questioning the jurisdiction of the State Government in ordering the probe and the competence of the inquiry officer in investigating the incident was not available. 

Mr. Naqshbandi also said the application regarding the withdrawal of notices for appearance was "per se untenable" as these were issued after recording the prima facie satisfaction in the matter. 

The Judge thus dismissed both the applications and decided to go ahead with the inquiry without the participation of the army. The State Government, on December 11, gave an extension of two months to the inquiry commission the term of which had expired on November 22. 

 
On September 22, the State Government ordered an inquiry into the killing of four boys, aged between 8 and 18 years, by 33 RR personnel while they were playing cricket at Doodhipora village on February 22 this year. 

 
It appointed Mr. Naqashbandi as the inquiry officer to probe the causes and circumstances that led to the firing by troops who "mistook" the four teenaged boys as militants and killed them. 

The incident had sparked off massive protests and violence in the entire Kashmir valley. The army later admitted and regretted the incident and also offered compensation to families of the victims. 

The State Government had asked Mr. Naqshbandi to submit his report within two months. Besides identifying the people, if any, whose negligence caused the incident; the inquiry officer was told to fix responsibility for use of excessive force, which resulted in the death of four boys. 

 
 Mr. Naqshbandi was also asked to recommend the necessary action against those found negligent or guilty and suggest measures to avoid recurrence of such incidents. 
MAN KILLED BY POLICE IN CUSTODY: RESIDENTS

KISHTWAR, December 4: Thousands of people demonstrated on roads in Kishtwar against police and the state government accusing police of killing in custody a man named Mukand Lal. 

 
In pursuance to a warrant issued by the court of Judicial Magistrate First Class Kishtwar, the deceased Mukand Lal was handed over to police on December 2, however, he died under mysterious circumstances at sub-district hospital. 

 
Residents of Padder, the native village of the deceased, alleging that Lal was killed in custody demanded a probe into the matter.  Police has denied the allegation. 

 
Nek Ram, a protester of Padder said, “It is a clear case of custodial killing as there is a injury mark on his head. The prison authorities are responsible for the killing.” 

 
Workers of different political parties participated in the demonstration. 

 
The Bar Association Kishtwar demanded a thorough probe into the alleged custodial killing. Another resident, Rehmat Ali, said, “We want a thorough probe into the incident by an independent agency. Government claims that normalcy has returned but human rights violations are at peak.” 

VDC KILLED MY SON

December 7: “Police is yet to take any action against eight Village Defence Committee (VDC) members who killed my only son,” said Ghulam Muhammad Khan, 76, of Sanwara village in Doda’s Gandoh area. 

Khan said, “The state government is providing free ration to the killers of my innocent son who was the breadwinner for my family.” He said the eight VDC members had murdered his son Farooq Ahmad Khan when he was working in his field in June this year. The accused VDC men are Amar Singh, Prem Lal, Mool Raj, Jia Lal, Prithvi Raj, Kuldeep Kumar and Kamlesh Kumar.

Khan has six daughters and a wife. Farooq’s widow Mastoora, married only a year before Farooq’s murder, also lives with Khan. 

On June 17, Khan filed a report against the accused at police station Gandoh, and police had filed a case of murder against the eight accused VDC men. However, none of them has been arrested so far, Khan said. 

“Farooq worked as a labourer; now I have no one left who can earn. My family is on verge of starvation and I am too old to work. I do not want to die before the killers of my son are booked under law,” Khan said. 

Khan said the accused migrated to Himachal Pradesh and returned after receiving assurance from the state government. “They were provided free ration and they live a carefree life,” Khan said, “Is this justice that government is feeding killers of my son and my family is facing starvation.” 

A case has also been registered against the accused police station Gandoh.

51 KOT BHALWAL DETAINEES FACE VIOLENCE CHARGES 
JAMMU, December 22: Six days after police crushed a major uprising in the high security Kot Bhalwal jail, the jail authorities have identified 51 detainees and after filing number of charges against them, have requested police to quiz them.

 
Additional Superintendent Police (ASP) Jammu, Shakti Pathak, said that jail authorities have submitted a list of 51 detainees who carried out violence in the jail. 

“We will move application in the court of Chief Judicial Magistrate seeking permission to quiz these detainees. Order of the court is must in case of quizzing the detainees, as they are already under judicial custody,” Pathak said.

The jail authorities have registered FIR against the detainees at Gharota police station charging them with criminal conspiracy, rioting, assault on public servants, creating mischief, and causing damage to the public property under.

Sources said after obtaining permission from the court the police would interrogate the detainees about smuggling of SIM cards inside the jail premises. The jail authorities have already confiscated the belongings of the detainees and are checking these for SIM cards and other incriminating material.

Despite official claims to play down the use of force on inmates of Kot Bhalwal jail on December 17, the critical condition of one of them is a reflection of the brutal force that was used on the day to quell the protest inside the prison premises.

 
Lying in ward no. 5 of Government Medical College hospital at Jammu, Kot Bhalwal jail inmate Ghulam Hassan, a resident of Shahnagri in Kupwara is nursing his bruised and battered body. He has suffered multiple fractures and if doctors attending to him were to be believed, he would have died, had he not been shifted out of the jail premises. 

 
Though he could not speak properly, but he did say that he is from Kot Bhalwal Jail and was one among those, who were beaten up brutally by the security forces, who had been asked to restore order inside the jail premises, after the inmates had resorted to violence, following the shifting of four prisoners from the jail on Sunday, December 17. 

 
In his broken voice, Hassan said that he wants to send a message to his family members that he is bed-ridden and badly hurt. "Mujhey lagta hai, mein nahin bachoon ga (I feel, I will not survive)" said Hassan. Thereafter, Hassan fell silent and could not muster courage to speak any more words. Doctors attending to him instructed not to force him to speak because it could aggravate his problems. 

 
According to the Medical report of Ghulam Hassan, he has been registered as a resident of Kupwara in Kashmir. Though the GMC hospital authorities refused to disclose the complete address of the inmate, they maintained that Ghulam Hassan was admitted in ward no. 5 on Monday, December 18. They say that when he was admitted, his condition was critical. 

 
Doctors attending to him, who refused to identify themselves said that Ghulam Hassan arrived in the ward with broken collarbone, fractured 4 ribs and fractured 4 vertebras apart from badly damaged sternum. They further say that Hassan had also been suffering from bleeding of lungs (haemopneumothorax). 

They stress that the kind of injuries he has suffered would have resulted in his collapsing on spot. "He has either fallen from a height or has been beaten badly with sticks," added a senior doctor on the condition of anonymity.  

 
He further said that it would take him around three months before he could be discharged. 
Hospital sources further said that two patients were admitted in Government Medical College at Jammu on Monday, December 18, a day after the incident. "One of them was badly bruised and had some head injuries but there was nothing serious in it but the other one was crying bitterly and had some serious injuries," said one of the staffers in Emergency. 

 
It is important to mention here that Police on Sunday, December 18 had cracked down heavily on more than 300 detainees of Kot Bhalwal Jail who had been protesting since Saturday, December 17 against alleged "harassment and atrocities by the jail authorities." On December 18 morning police shifted four detenues to outside states, triggering a protest, which led to clashes between police and the jail inmates reportedly leading to injuries to twenty-one detainees, one of them critically, and three policemen were wounded in the clashes, as claimed by official sources. 

 
According to some reports, on the day when the incident took place, there were 343 prisoners including 41 foreign nationals lodged in the high security Kot Bhalwal jail. Police and jail authorities have been consistently denying charges of use of brute force to cool the tempers of the agitating prisoners. The three-member team of International Committee of Red Cross was also disallowed from meeting the jail inmates.
The families whose dear ones are languishing in Kot Bhalwal jail Jammu alleged that they are being subjected to custodial torture after December 17 violent clash between the detenues and jail authorities.   


The jail authorities were tight lipped about the fate of jail inmates after December 17 and had prevented the entry of international human rights organisations and media persons in the jail premises. 


It was only the morning of December 26, that the jail authorities permitted the relatives of the inmates, mostly from Kashmir, who were camping there since December 18, to meet their them.


The relatives were finally allowed to meet the inmates at 12:30 pm in groups of fine for only 20 minutes.


However, none of the relatives seemed happy following their meeting with the inmates. Majority of the relatives revealed that the inmates were subjected to custodial torture. Relatives alleged that the inmates have been locked inside their barracks. They said that following the violent clashes the jail authorities have prevented them from reading religious literature, lunch is provided to them at 9 am, they are not allowed to bath, majority of them don’t have enough clothes since their cloths were thrown out by the jail authorities during searches. Relatives of the inmates said that most of the inmates cannot speak loudly inside the barracks and whosoever dares is beaten up. 


Majority of the relatives who were allowed to meet their dear ones refuse to identify themselves fearing that inmates might be beaten up and they will not be allowed to meet the inmates next time. 

A VILLAGE OF 30 HOUSES ENCOUNTERS TRAIL OF DESTRUCTION

December 25: A three day long gun battle between militants and troops in Behrampora, Pattan hamlet, 35 kilometer north of Srinagar came to an end on December 25. The encounter costs the lives of six persons besides caused a trail of destruction.

One has had to pass through two highly fortified army camps to reach the village, nearly five kilometer from Baramulla to Srinagar highway. Army had surrounded the beautiful village full of apple or chards, and media persons were strictly told to stay away.

Hundreds of soldiers, assisted by the personnel of Special Operations Group (SOG) of police were busy clearing the debris of at least 10 houses the village comprises 30 houses –razed to ground in the heavy mortar shelling by the troops.

           
Except the presence of soldiers in the battle gear, the village was deserted. Villagers had left behind their homes and hearths when the gunfight broke out on December 23 morning.

         
“We are clearing the debris; till now we have recovered two bodies, it seems one of them is militant,” an army official told. “Stay away from the site, explosives can be still there. There has been no firing from the other side since Sunday evening but we still have to be careful.”

         
A landmine-proof vehicle of the army had overturned at the mouth of the village on December 23 when it came under heavy firing from the militants.

          
A middle-aged man who was standing on the other side of the road came running, shouting,” Did you go inside the village? Did you see a small house at the entrance of the village? Is the house intact?”

          
The frail man, who introduced himself as Ghulam Muhammad Lone, went on: “we were asked by soldiers to come out of our houses on Saturday (December 23) morning and assemble in an open ground. Later searches were undertaken and we heard the first gunshot around 11:00am.

        
“The gunfight intensified within minutes and people ran for their life. Since then nobody knows what happened inside the village. All villagers left their houses and fled away. We don’t know what happened to our houses and cattle.”

On the other side of the road, the residents of Dargam had assembled in an open ground. Tension was palpable on their faces. They said the army asked them to come out of their houses on Saturday (December 23) morning.” They (army) took five teenagers with them for conducting searches. After the firing began, the crackdown was lifted,” the villagers said, adding.
“Since Saturday we are looking for the five boys (identified as Saimullah Khan, Tanveer Ahmed Wani, Ashfaq Ahmed Parray, Muhammad Shafi Parray and Showkat Ahmed).

Now army claims they are not with them,” they said.

“What happened to our sons?” a group of elderly women asked angry soldiers who chased them away.

            
And nobody knew what happened to the body of mentally challenged Fayaz Ahmed Lone, who according to the army, fell to bullets when he appeared amidst heavy exchange of firing on Saturday. Fayaz was the sixth casualty in the encounter that claimed three soldiers, including a colonel, and two militants in the initial outburst on Saturday (December 23).
KASHMIRIS: TRAUMATISED, HUMILIATED, SCARED, REVEALS MSF SURVEY 
SAYS SUFFERINGS CONTINUE DESPITE INDO-PAK PEACE PROCESS

SRINAGAR, December 22: A major scientific survey by Medicins Sans Frontieres (MSF), one of the world’s leading humanitarian organisations has revealed in quantitative terms the extent of suffering the Kashmiris have undergone in the past 17 years. The survey conducted in mid-2005 shows that despite the peace process between India and Pakistan and decline in levels of violence since 2004, violations of human rights and infringement of civilian rights by all fighting parties continue. 
The suffering inflicted on the people has badly affected their mental and physical health and economic and social well being, the survey report posted on the MSF website says.

“The wounds inflicted on Kashmir society are deep and go well beyond the socio-economic problems of neglect and poverty,” the report notes. 

A team of trained researchers from Kashmir University’s Sociology and Psychology departments carried out the survey under the supervision of an international health expert in Beerwah and Kralpora blocks of Budgam and Kupwara districts over a period of 11 weeks in randomly selected villages and households. The survey consists of 510 interviews in these two blocks with a population of 145,500. The findings are nightmarish (see table). 

The survey shows higher number of respondents (11.6%) have experienced or witnessed the sexual violence in these areas in comparison to findings in other “surveys and contexts” like Sierra Leone (2%), Sri Lanka (2%), Chechnya (0%) and Ingushetia (0.1%).
“The respondents reported suffering direct violations of their modesty and/or the witnessing of such acts since 1989. It is possible that the actual prevalence is higher as many people regard it as inappropriate to talk about sex-related issues. The survey found much higher numbers of people whom themselves had experienced sexual violence in comparison to findings in other surveys and contexts. This may be due to the fact that people in Kashmir feel freer to discuss a “violation of their modesty” than civilians living in those other contexts. Another possibility is that the definition of sexual violence varies among populations; in Kashmir, a “violation of modesty” includes inappropriate touching, which may contribute to the increased prevalence of sexual violence reported here if the other populations in surveys define sexual violence only as the act of rape. These differences suggest that the assumption of a universal definition is at least doubtful. In future studies, developing more explicitly questions relating to the World Health Organization’s broader definitions of sexual violence should be considered. This definition includes, for example, “inappropriate touching” as reported in the current survey.”

Forced labour, torture
Forced labour, a vestige of the barbarian Dogra rule, is highly prevalent with approximately 38 percent of respondents saying they were forced to perform labour. However the army and the state government have consistently denied that people in rural areas are forced into labour. Eighteen percent of the interviewees said they were forced by militants to give shelter. 
Despite the apparent détente between India and Pakistan, the legal and illegal detentions by different security agencies are widespread. The survey notes that since 1989 one in six respondents (16.9%) was legally or illegally detained. “A shocking finding is that torture appears to be widespread among those detained (legally or illegally): 76.7% said they were tortured while they were in captivity. The high levels reported suggest a strategy of intimidation and fear employed by the warring parties,” the findings reveal.
A shocking 33 percent of the respondents have thought of ending their lives during this period. “Such a high percentage of suicidal ideation, within a population holding strong religious beliefs that condemn the act of suicide, is a worrying indicator of the level of despair and hopelessness,” the authors of the report have noted in the summary. 

These findings are based on survey in Kralpora and Beerwah blocks only. One can imagine the situation in worst hit areas of the valley. 
The report notes: “While the level of violence has decreased since 2004, the events reported here were still occurring in mid-2005 when the survey was done, indicating an ongoing and unacceptable continuation of violence”. 

Recommendations
The authors of the report have recommended that government should set up institutions to look after the mental health needs of people. The report says that though a cessation of hostilities, with a reduction in fear and intimidation will result in an immediate improvement of the population’s physical situation, the “effects of conflict do not always end the moment a peace agreement is signed.” 
“Many people will need some support to reduce their dependency on aid. Using a validated screening tool, we have shown that a substantial number of people suffer from serious psychological distress. Physical and mental coping mechanisms are exhausted, and the health system needs further strengthening,” the report’s authors say.

The report points out that failure of the Ministry of Health to implement its own Mental Health Policy in Kashmir and many other parts of India has contributed to increased and unnecessary suffering. 

“Due to lack of services and/or medication, severely disturbed and ill people must travel long distances to seek care. The psychiatric hospital in Srinagar provides basic care and the number of patients is growing. Others suffer in silence,” the report says, adding the psychiatric and counseling services are non-existent in rural areas, except at places where MSF has set up such service centres.
SOG CONTINUES TO BE TERROR FOR CIVILIANS

JAMMU, December 10: While the only visible change in the functioning of the Special operations Groups (SOG) after the announcement made to disband them and merge them with the Jammu and Kashmir police is that instead of working independently the force now works under district police, the very reason for which the highly politicized announcement of disbanding the force was made - massive allegations of human rights violations against the SOG - continues to be a problem for the civilians in militancy infested areas particularly the Kashmir Valley and Doda. 

Director General of Police (DGP) Gopal Sharma, however, maintains that this is a thing of the past and that for the last two years his office has received no such complaints. "Our men are being given special classes on respecting human rights," he maintained, claiming that this has brought about a major change in the functioning of the SOG.

However, in striking contrast to the DGP's claims, human rights abuse at the hands of the SOG is fairly prevalent and the reign of terror unleashed by it more than a decade ago continues to prevail. Facts and news reports speak for themselves. In recent months alone, majority of the complaints about atrocities pouring in from various parts of Jammu region have been against the SOG or other affiliated police groups. 

On October 18, a ration dealer, Ishtiaq Khan was beaten up and tortured by an SOG Inspector in Bhaderwah. His family members alleged that he was first picked up by the SOG men, whisked to an unknown destination, tortured and then let off on suspicion of being a militant sympathizer, an allegation that is challenged by Ishtiaq and his family. 

More publicized is the case of a local youth who was gunned down by a joint party of the Rashtriya Rifles (RR) and the SOG at Pranu in Bhaderwah on August 21, which triggered massive protests. The youth, Anjeel Shah, was said to be working in his maize fields when the RR and SOG men resorted to unprovoked firing. The government also later ordered a judicial probe in the incident.
Equally significant is the case of 11th class student Mohammad Ishaq of Chilli in Gandoh who was gunned down by a Sub-Inspector of the SOG, Chanchal Singh. While the police passed off Ishaq as a militant, the incident sparked protests in the area. The charges that Ishaq was a militant were refuted even by his teachers who maintained that he was a meritorious student and attended school regularly. Interestingly, Chanchal Singh has also been awarded the president's medal. 

Last year, when the gold idol smuggling scam was unearthed, SOG was reported to be in the middle of the shoddy dealings that had taken place. A complaint was lodged last year in September by an Assistant Sub Inspector with the Accountability Commission alleging involvement of an SOG team headed by a Deputy Superintendent of Police (DSP) in the case. The complainant also alleged that DGP Gopal Sharma was trying to hush up the case.

Things have been no different in Kashmir valley. On October 22, an SPO (Special Police Officer), Mohammed Ashraf Lone was allegedly killed by the cops of the Special Operations Group Kupwara and troops of Rashtriya Rifles in Sopore town, which sparked massive protests on the Baramulla-Uri highway four days later. The protestors also refuted the claims of the police that Lone was working for Lashkar-e-Toiba. 
However, the top brass of the police force does not only maintain that no fresh complaints of violations have been received, they also claim that all previous allegations have been mere aberrations in comparison to the success of the SOG in counter insurgency operations. 
The Afzal Guru case well demonstrates how SOG camps had been turned into virtual torture cells in the nineties. When asked to comment on this case and the allegations made by Guru against the SOG, especially DSP Dravinder Singh, who was operating in Humhama in 2001, when Guru was arrested in the parliament attack case, both DGP Gopal Sharma and Additional DG Counter Intelligence Kuldeep Khuda denied the charges. 

Interestingly, however, DSP Dravinder Singh in an interview to the CNN-IBN TV news channel recently, did not only admit to interrogating and torturing Afzal Guru, he boasted of it, maintaining that it was a procedure in those days not to record arrests in books anywhere. "We did pour petrol in his ass and gave him electric shocks. But I could not break him. He did not reveal anything to me despite our hardest possible interrogation. We tortured him enough for Ghazi Baba but he did not break. He looked like a ‘bhondu’ those days, what you call a ‘chootiya’ type. And I had a reputation for torture, interrogation and breaking suspects. HHhhhhhIf anybody came out of my interrogation clean, nobody would ever touch him again. He would be considered clean for good by the whole department," said Dravinder Singh, who is presently no longer a part of the SOG and is posted at Police Control Room, Srinagar. Since 2001, Dravinder Singh is also reported to have been decorated with several police medals, sources in the police department maintained.

J&K POLICE REGISTER CASE AGAINST ARMY FOR FIRING ON SOG MEN

SRINAGAR, December 25: The Jammu and Kashmir Police have registered a case against the army for allegedly opening fire on the personnel of its Special Operation Group (SOG) in Kupwara district on December 23, official sources said.

 
They said police have taken serious note of the alleged firing on the SOG personnel by troops of 19 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) at Sogam in Lolab area of frontier district of Kupwara when they were going for a counter-insurgency operation on December 23 and registered an FIR in this regard.

 
Police claimed that the SOG party of ten personnel had left for an independent operation after informing 19 RR troops. 
 
However, troops still opened fire on the SOG personnel at the Sogam market, police said and alleged that the firing was ''deliberate''.
 
One SOG personnel, Bashir Ahmad, sustained wounds in the firing and his condition was stated to be critical.
 
An FIR (83/06) under section 307 has been registered against the Army at the Sogam police station.
GOVERNMENT DOESN’T ALLOW AGED COUPLE FOR HAJJ

SRINAGAR, December 4: Security agencies on December 2 evening told Sheikh Muhammad Yusuf, 75, and his wife Hanifa of Iqbal Nagar Sopore that they won’t be allowed to perform Hajj pilgrimage, as their security verification was “adverse”, a euphemism for your travel abroad could be a threat to the state. 

 
Yusuf and his wife Hanifa were scheduled to travel on a flight to Jeddah on December 3, but on December 2 evening authorities told them that they couldn’t proceed. 

Yusuf’s nephew, Abdur Rasheed told, “name of my uncle and aunt figured in the first list of selected Hajis from the Baramulla district. After that security agencies conducted their verification and their names were cleared.” 
 
After getting the clearance from the agencies, the aged couple deposited the travel money and submitted relevant documents, and they were even issued an okay ticket for December 3. The couple made all the arrangements and bade goodbye to their relatives and neighbours. 

On December 1, according to Rasheed, when the couple went to the office of the Deputy Commissioner Baramulla to collect the travel documents, the officials told them that they couldn’t undertake the holy journey, as security agencies haven’t cleared Yusuf’s name. “We were told only our aunt can proceed,” added Rasheed. 

On December 2, Yusuf’s family members went to the concerned officials and tried to seek an explanation from them. But officials maintained that they couldn’t do anything, as they have to follow the orders. “On December 2 evening we received yet another shock as officials told us that our aunt too can’t proceed for the holy pilgrimage,” said Rasheed. 

Yusuf is a former activist of Jama’at-e-Islami and has stayed in Pakistan too. According to his family, in early nineties he went to Pakistan via Wagah border on a valid passport. He stayed there for more than three years and on his return he was arrested. However, a court released him after two years detention as nothing was proved against him.

According to the family members, after lot of persuasion one of the security officials told them the reason why Yusuf was not allowed to perform the Hajj. 

“He is a former Jama’at activist, has visited Pakistan, and has been in prison also, that is why he has been stopped,” the family members quoting an official as saying. 

“If Syed Ali Shah Geelani and other separatist leaders can perform the Hajj why can’t a former Jama’at activist do the same? How can a 75-year-old man be a threat to the Indian State,” a relative of Yusuf said, adding, “It means being an activist of Jama’at is a sin.” 

When contacted, Deputy Commissioner Baramulla, Baseer Ahmed Khan told, “Send him to my office. I will look into the matter”.

ANOTHER COUPLE STOPPED FROM HAJJ

December 7: Authorities have stopped one more aged couple from south Kashmir’s district from going for Hajj. 

Reports said Jama’at-e-Islami’s former district president Pulwama, Muhammad Abdullah Mir, 70, and his wife Raja Begum were selected for the holy pilgrimage by draw of lots and were directed to completed the formalities. 
 
However, the couple was shocked to know that they couldn’t perform Hajj due to “adverse report” by security agencies. 

LT COL’S FAMILY SMELLS RAT IN HIS ‘SUICIDE’
December 3: Sanjay Jha, the elder brother of Lieutenant Colonel Pankaj Jha who allegedly committed suicide at 15 Sector Rashtriya Rifles Headquarters at Mahore in Jammu and Kashmir’s Udhampur district, favours an independent investigation by a central agency such as the Central Bureau of Investigation (CBI) into his sibling’s demise. 

 
At its level, the Army has already ordered an inquiry into the incident. 

 
“We have been told that the fatal bullet struck him in the neck. That is not where a person normally aims when desirous of ending his or her life. Media reports sometimes say it was his service pistol and at other times a private weapon is hinted at. Has somebody shot him?” a distraught Jha, who teaches Mathematics in a local school, told.

Jha says that his sibling, who was stationed in Kashmir during “Operation Vijay” and was later decorated with the President’s Medal for Distinguished Service, was normal and happy in previous postings but not in the last one where he joined in September, 2005. 

 
“Pankaj was posted at Baroda, Pune, Leh and even insurgency-affected Assam. He was never afraid of death and could work for even 36 hours at a stretch. I cannot say whether a conspiracy led to his death but he was not so cowardly as to shoot himself. During his October leave Pankaj was here and his face showed he was under pressure. But he never revealed why. There was no tension from the family side,” Jha says while adding that there is no family history of suicide. 

 
Lt-Col Jha’s mother Lalita, who is about 70, said, “I will not survive this shock but ensure justice for my daughter-in-law and granddaughter,” she implores with folded hands and tears. 

 
The officer had a love marriage with his better half Mom who says, “he was not keeping well and there was tremendous pressure on him.” She stays in the Saket Nagar locality along with their daughter Saunjil, who is in the fourth standard. The Lt-colonel desired to make her a dentist. 

 
Mom was a housewife studying for her Bachelor of Education degree. 

“As a representative of the military personnel stationed in this area, it is my duty to provide solace to the bereaved family,” said Brigadier P K Jaggia who is Commandant, 3 Electronics and Mechanical Engineers Centre, in nearby Bairagarh. He visited the Jhas on Dec 2. 

Sanjay Jha also discusses the time of the suicide. “We were first informed that he shot himself between 1330-1400 hrs while a newspaper report gave the time as around noon. Despite his seniority, a truck was used to convey his body for a chunk of the journey from Mahore to here. The delay will result in further decomposition and his demise might remain a mystery,” he feels. 
 
A December 2 news report from Jammu quoted official sources as saying that Lt-Col Jha shot himself with his service pistol at 1430 hrs. 

“He used to talk to his mother and wife over telephone but shared very little of his problems,” says Sanjay Jha. 
It is a cruel coincidence that city-based Lt Sushmita Chakraborty (25), who was attached to the Army Services Corps 5071 Battalion, also allegedly shot herself with a sentry’s rifle at Udhampur on June 15.

In another important breakthrough in the case, police have traced a distress SMS on Pankaj’s mobile telephone number, which was the last message or call received by him after which he ended his life with a service weapon.

Police has been investigating the suicide by Lt Col Jha in his official quarter at Mahore in Udhampur district, and has also discovered that the Army officer had visited Katra town and not Bhopal in Madhya Pradesh as stated by him while availing a week’s casual leave.

"It was a SMS and not any work pressure or harassment by his superiors, as alleged by his mother Lalita Jha, which forced the senior Army officer to take the extreme step", official sources told.

During further investigations, police have found that the SMS was done from mobile telephone number of an employee of Deccan Airlines, which was operating helicopter service between Katra to Sanji Chhat. Contents of the SMS were not clear, sources said.

Lt Col Jha had taken casual leave for one week from November 29 to December 7 for visiting his house in Bhopal. However, he returned to his unit in 15 Sector Rashtriya Rifles, headquartered at Mahore, on December 1, around 11.30 am. At about 12.30 pm, he shot himself dead with his service weapon.

Sources said a number of SMS had been recorded in mobile phone of the Army officer from the same number but last one was the distress SMS, which compelled the Lt Col to end his life.

Presently, a case under Section 174 RPC has been registered at Mahore police station in the death of Army officer.

Reasons behind the Lt Col’s visit to Katra and his prolong stay in the office of Deccan Airlines have also been established but they have been kept a secret pending investigations, sources said, adding the Deccan employee, from whose mobile the SMS had been made, is also being called for questioning in connection with investigations of the case. Lt Col Jha was said to be a frequent visitor to Katra.

They, however, ruled out charging the Deccan employee with abetment to suicide. "Under the circumstances, we have come across, the employee can’t be booked for abetting suicide", they said, adding the employee was, however, required to be called for questioning and recording her statement.

In addition to police investigations, Army has also ordered an inquiry into the incident.

Lt Col Jha’s widow, when approached for her comments on mobile telephone in Bhopal, declined to say anything. "At this stage, I will not offer any comments", she said.

Earlier, the Army officer’s mother, Lalita Jha, in a statement had alleged that his son was under extra work pressure and was being harassed by his superiors. His mother had also claimed that when her son visited Bhopal, he was looking tense. 

It is not clear why the Army officer’s mother said that her son had been to Bhopal while, according to police, there was no such transportation between Jammu and Bhopal which could make the Army officer to return to Mahore at 11.30 am on December 1 after leaving the same station on November 29. Moreover, his leave was due till December 7.

Investigators said there has been no substance in Lalita Jha’s allegations. As Lt Col Jha had been assigned the task of maintaining logistics, there was no workload on him, they asserted. Also, there was no reason for his harassment by the superiors, they added.

Further investigations in the case by police are in progress.
ARMY PLANS TO RECRUIT 400 PSYCHIATRISTS TO COUNTER STRESS 
NEW DELHI, December 29: The army plans to recruit 400 psychiatrists to cope with stress within its ranks that has led to an increase in fratricidal killings and suicides. 

 
"We have sent a proposal for recruiting 400 psychiatrists of officer rank so that senior officers can also approach them," Vice Admiral V K Singh, Director General of the Armed Forces Medical Service, told. 

 
Asked about an increase in suicides among army personnel, Singh agreed that the "suicides were linked to stress" but said the "morale of army officers is high". 

He said the psychiatrists, who would be from a civilian background, would be able to assess the behavior of persons and could stop any suicidal trends. 

Singh cited "family problems" to be a major cause driving personnel to commit suicide. This was followed by "army life", he said. 
Some personnel decide to "end their lives when they visit their family and find them having difficulties in life". "It is not the service conditions that make them do it," he said. 

The army has been affected by a string of fratricidal killings and suicides in recent months and a majority of such incidents were blamed on stress associated with serving in insurgency-affected areas like Jammu and Kashmir. 

Explaining that stress among officers was "not high", Singh said, "Whatever the rate we want to bring the number down to zero." 
The "strong medical check-up" system for army officers ensures there are no high incidences of diabetes and hypertension.  

"These luxury-related diseases kill the man. It is a rich man's disease", he said. 

MORE SOLDIERS DIE IN SUICICIDES THAN FIGHTING MILITANTS

JAMMU, December 25: This year more soldiers killed themselves or their colleagues In Jammu and Kashmir than were killed in gunfights with militants.

                   Seventy-two army personnel, including officers, died in anti-militancy Operations but over 100 of them committed suicide or died in fratricidal shootings Prompting the army top brass to suggest measures including sending the spouses of soldiers to live with them in the state.

                  On December 1, Lt Colonel Pankaj Jha, posted with 15 Rashtriya Rifles in Mahore area of Udhampur district, according to officials, committed suicide by shooting himself with his service revolver.” It was yet another fallout of keeping army engaged in counterinsurgency operations against an unwilling population for longer periods,” said the army.

              In the recent surge in suicides among army, a new feature was that many of those who committed suicides were officers-Captain Sunil Kohli, Major Sobha Rani and Lt. Sushmita Chatterjee are the ones who ended lives this year .In some of these cases, the families of the dead officers accused the army of foul play, a charge denied by the army.

 
Psychiatrists attribute the increase in the number of suicide cases to low morale, bad service conditions, denial of vacations and leave, unattractive pay and a Communication gap with superiors.

                 Dr Chander Mohan, head of psychiatry department, government medical college and hospital Jammu told that Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) with reactive depression is the main cause of the growing suicide cases in the Indian army in Jammu and Kashmir.

                 “Army personnel deployed in the state are not satisfied with the job because of workload and nature of the job. Inability to cope with the ever increasing stress and task in the present scenario is taking its toll on the army personnel deployed in the state,” said Dr Mohan.

          He said, “Generally army recruits the people who are already vulnerable to stress disorders and who don’t have a very strong motivation to join army. At the time of recruitment there is need of active psychological screening so that people with strong coping mechanism are recruited”.

 
Spokesperson of Indian army (16 and 19 Corps) Paul St Goswamy claimed that only 0.3 % of the suicidal cases are because of the operational stress, rest of the cases are because of the domestic problems faced by the army personnel. 

Operational stressed due to environment coupled with domestic problems are the main reason for growing suicide cases in Indian army in the state. Indian army is the big force even if there are a few cases of suicides, it should not be treated that entire Indian army is under stress, colonel Goswamy added.
JAILED FOR OSAMA PHOTO, 4 KASHMIRIS FREED AFTER 5 YEARS 
SRINAGAR, December 22: The Mumbai High Court has acquitted four Kashmiri youth who were sentenced by the lower court for life—of which they served five years in jail—for possessing an Urdu periodical having pictures of Al-Qaeda chief Osama Bin Laden. 

 
On October 24, 2001 the four youth from of Saloosa village of Baramulla, Farooq Ahmad Chopan, Javed Ahmad Bhat, Farooq Ahmad Bhat and Altaf Hussain Bhat, were arrested from their room at Billak Chawl in Mumbra. They had been working with a construction company in Mumbai.

The prosecution claimed that police, on an information conducted the raid, and “on searching them they were found carrying rupees 300 in cash. Police on searching the room found copies of Urdu periodicals and literature and a foreign pistol placed under periodicals was recovered from them.” 

The periodical recovered from the room was actually Afkar-i-Milli, an Urdu magazine that had a cover story on the Al Qaeda, photographs of Osama Bin Laden, George Bush and some politicians of India. Incidentally, the construction company subscribed to the magazine.
The concerned Sessions Judge convicted them for life under section 122 of the Indian Penal Code. 
For five years they were languishing in a jail. Though they had earlier been released on bail by the High Court in its decision on November 1, 2004, they did not have the required rupees 25000 each to pay as the bail amount. 

Moreover, nobody was coming forward in Mumbai to bail them out as police harassed them. In fact, one Muazzam Naik who had come forward to stand guarantee was later arrested by the police and accused of being the collaborator. 

 
Thus, they remained in jail ever since their arrest.

 
The order was challenged in the Bombay High Court. The trial continued for quiet a long time and then on December 11 this year, Mumbai High Court set them free, absolving them conclusively of the prosecution charge of “preparing to wage a war against the Government of India.” 

In its 21-page judgment, the Bombay High Court has observed: “The mere publication of the photographs of some important dignitaries of India or Osama Bin Laden or the President of America would not in our opinion establish that the literature incited and instigated the readers to wage war against the Government if India.” 

Photographs of important personalities of India, the court observed, are published in many magazines, which may be found in anybody’s possession. This, the court held, could not lead to conclusion that the person would want to wage war against India.

The court has similarly refused to take the recovery of pistols and a revolver as a proof enough for the youth to be part of a conspiracy against the country. “There is no evidence at all on record to establish that the collection of the arms and the ammunition by the accused was for the purpose of preparing to wage war.” 

The judgment says: “It appears that the prosecution was overawed by the fact that it claimed that the accused belonged to the Hizbul Mujahideen and that they hailed from the state of Jammu and Kashmir. The prosecution has not established through its evidence that the accused did in fact belong to this organization.” 

The High Court sets aside order of sessions court, which had convicted them under section 122 of Indian Penal Code. The High Court also set aside their conviction under thee Arms Act saying the accused have been in jail since their arrest. Though they were granted bail they have not availed of the order and have been in jail even since their arrest that is for five years. Hence, they be released forthwith if not required in any other case.
YOUTH KILLED, 15 HURT IN EXPLOSION

GIRL BEATEN AFTER EXPLOSION

December 5: A youth was killed and 15 persons injured in a grenade explosion in Baramulla town on December 5, morning. 

 
Witnesses said that an unknown man hurled a grenade towards a vehicle of 46 RR at Azad Gunj around 11:45 am. The grenade missed the target and exploded on road, killing a civilian identified as Muneer Ahmed Bhat son of Abdul Majeed Bhat of Stadium Colony Baramulla. 

 
After the blast, the soldiers went berserk and thrashed the civilians, the witnesses said. “I was beaten because I was helping the injured,” said Parvez Ahmed of old Baramulla. 

 
Mohsina Hassan, 20, of Khanpora, Baramulla who was undergoing treatment at the sub-district hospital, said, “After the blast soldiers stopped a matador, we were travelling in and beat up all the passengers including women. A soldier hit me with a gun butt.” 

 
Police claimed that the killed youth was the grenade thrower. Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) Baramulla told that the grenade exploded “in the hand of the youth before he could throw it.” 

 
But the family of the deceased youth rejected the police claims. “He was an innocent civilian who became victim of the grenade attack. We appeal the army and police not to demonize the victim,” the family members of the deceased said. “He had left his house to buy vegetables few minutes before the explosion.” 
COP BEATS UP PHOTOGRAPHER

December 1: Police allegedly beat up a photojournalist Qazi Irshad of Jammu based Kashmir Times (KT) English daily while he was on his way to Tourist Reception Centre (TRC) to cover the departure of Hajj pilgrims. 


When the people were about to leave for Hajj pilgrimage, the KT photographer parked his motorcycle and went towards TRC to cover the departure of the pilgrims. Ones he went ahead one of the cops stopped him and told him to leave saying that there are restriction in place.  

On this Qazi replied that he is a photographer and he has come to cover the assignment, to which the cop replied that permission was needed to shoot the pictures. On being told that no permission was needed the cop caught hold of the photographer and beat him up. Seeing this, the police policemen arrived on the scene and asked the errant cop to cool down saying that the KT photographer was allowed to shoot.    

The police officer of the rank of DSP arrived on the scene and gave hearing to the photographer’s tale. Once the photographer narrated the whole scene to the DSP who instead of apologizing said the cop is a young man & is hot blooded.

Meanwhile, Kashmir Press Photographers Association (KPPS) has strongly condemned the incident. The association has demanded action against cop involved in highhandedness. 
ILLEGALLY CONFINED SCRIBE, WIFE FORMALLY ARRESTED

SRINAGAR, December 4: After allegedly keeping sub-editor of "The Srinagar News"- Abdul Rouf and his wife Zeenat under illegal confinement since November 21, police on December 2, formally arrested them.

Special Operation Group (SOG) of Jammu & Kashmir police picked up Abdul Rouf and his wife Zeenat on charges of harbouring ultras in their house at Bemina.

However, when contacted SSP Syed Afadul Mujtaba said, "a case was registered three days back against the couple at Parimpora police station for allegedly harbouring militants in their house". 

Rouf and Zeenat were actually picked up on November 21 from their house at Bemina during a raid by SOG. Soon after their arrest the couple was whisked away to SOG headquarter at Cargo Complex and interrogated there. After some days the wife of the sub-editor was shifted during late evening hours to women's police station at RamBagh for the night. 

However, SSP strongly denied that they were picked earlier. 

"We arrested them only three days back and they were not detained prior to their arrest", he said.  Their relatives and neighbours still contradict the police claim that the arrested couple was harbouring militants in their house saying, 

The allegation is baseless and false". According to them Rouf and Zeenat have been trapped in a fake case. 

With the couple languishing in police custody, their house continues to be locked at Bemina. Their relatives alleged that the house was locked by SOG but the SSP on December 4, claimed that they have not locked it. 

Rouf and Zeenat's three children continue to live with their neighbours. The youngest among them is dumb.

TROOPS RAID SCRIBE'S HOUSE

December 29: Troopers of 29 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) barged into the house of a journalist at Kreeri Pattan in Baramulla district in the wee hours of morning and thrashed the servant besides harassing other members of the family. The journalist was not home at the time of the raid. 

 
Reports said that RR troopers from Watergam Kreeri camp entered the house of NKH (Japanese official news channel) special correspondent, Syed Jehangir Bukhari, in Kreeri Pattan and thrashed the servant, while accusing the family of sheltering militants. Family members alleged that the troopers kept the house servant's hand on a burning lighter demanding him to admit that militants had been provided shelter by the family members some days back. 

 
Minor damage to house property was also caused during the search operation conducted by the troopers. The special correspondent was traveling from Jammu to Srinagar when the raid was conducted. 

Defense spokesperson Col. Hemant Juneja, said in Srinagar that the matter shall be enquired into. "The army shall look into the matter as to why the journalist's family has been harassed," Juneja said. 
SHRC INDICTS STF IN MURDER OF DRIVER

SRINAGAR, December 4: State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) has indicted Special Task Force (STF) of murdering of driver in Budgam in 2001 and recommended government to pay rupees 2 lakh and benefits of SRO-43 to his family. 

 
The commission had taken suo-moto cognizance of a report published in a local daily newspaper on October 6, 2001 in which its was stated that a tipper driver Showkat Ahmad Khan was murdered by a STF personal at Sheikhpora Budgam when he refused to give them fuel. 

Hearing the case, M.Y Kawoos chairperson SHRC said, “it is admitted by the police and Deputy Commissioner Budgam that the victim Showkat Ahmad was killed by STF people.” 

The commission recommended to the government to pay Rs 2 lakh as ex-gratia relief and benefits of SRO-43 to the legal heirs within one month.

SOLDIERS GO BERSERK AFTER MILITANT AMBUSH 


 HYPERLINK "http://greaterkashmir.com/Home/" \o "Print this Article" 
2 civilians killed, 4 soldiers among 7 injured
SOPORE, December 22: Two civilians were killed and three injured when soldiers of Army’s 80 Mountain brigade resorted to indiscriminate firing following a militant ambush near main chowk Sopore in north Kashmir on Friday (December 22) afternoon. The incident triggered massive anti-India demonstrations in the town.

 
Eyewitnesses said at around 1445 hour, shortly after the Friday prayers, a group of militants ambushed an Army convoy, which was on its way from Bandipore to Srinagar, near main chowk Sopore.

 As the militants managed to escape from the spot, the soldiers went berserk, resorting to heavy firing causing instant death of two civilians identified as Bashir Ahmed Khan, son of Ghulam Ahmed of Badambagh, Sopore and Muhammad Ashraf Bhat, son of Ghulam Ahmed Bhat of Nowpora, Sopore. Injured civilians were rushed to a hospital.

“For sometime I couldn’t understand what was happening; I saw soldiers firing randomly; two people were hit by bullets,” said an eyewitness Muhammad Shafi.

The incident led to panic with people and shopkeepers running for safety.

“Two civilians were killed after the road opening party of the troops fired directly upon them. They kept on firing even after the Army convoy passed from there“, news reports said.

As the troops left the spot, hundreds of people came out on streets, chanting slogans against the Army and in favour of freedom from India. They alleged the soldiers killed the civilians in cold-blood, a charge denied by a Defence spokesman. 
“The civilians were killed when our soldiers retaliated to the firing by militants. The militants were firing from a building on the Army convoy,” said the spokesman Lt Col Hemant Juneja. 

Carrying the body of Bashir Ahmed Khan, one of the slain civilians, people staged a massive demonstration outside the Army camp in the Ganjoo House.

As the number of protesters swelled, police swung into action and resorted to baton-charge and lobbed teargas shells to disperse them. The protesters retaliated by hurling stones on the police and soldiers.

 Meanwhile, a caller who identified himself as spokesman of the Al-Mansoorain claimed responsibility for the attack. He claimed that five soldiers were killed and 10 more wounded in the attack.
OFFICIAL STATEMENTS 

· 701 BSF OFFICIALS KILLED SINCE 1990

December 2: The Border Security Force (BSF) during its 41st Raising Day at BSF headquarters Sanat Nagar, Kashmir admitted that 701 of its officials were killed during the ongoing conflict in Jammu & Kashmir since 1990. During that time they also killed 2500 militants, seized 12,000 weapons and 9 lacs rounds of ammunition in various parts of Kashmir valley in past 17 years.  
· INFILTRATION DOWN, SAYS ANTONY

POONCH, December 10: Defence Minister A K Antony said though the level of infiltration had come down this year, the militant infrastructure was still intact across the Line of Control (LoC). 

“There is a decrease in the level of infiltration this year. But, the terror infrastructure is still intact across the LoC,” Antony told. 
He said militant training camps were still being run across the LoC and Pakistan was continuing with its help to the militants. 

· 180 TROOPERS KILLED THIS YEAR  

NEW DELHI, December 13: A total number of 180 Army personnel including 12 officers have been killed in Jammu & Kashmir in the counter insurgency operations during the period from January 1 2006 to December 5 2006, Defence Minister A K Antony told the Lok Sabha. 

· HR VIOLATIONS LOWEST THIS YEAR: GOVERNMENT
‘Only 4 custodial killings, 1 disappearance’ 

JAMMU, December 14: Official spokesman said, “As compared to 83 custodial killings from 1996 up to 2002 it got reduced to only 24 custodial killings from 2003 to 2005 while during 2006 only four custodial killings have been reported.” 

“Similarly, 66 custodial disappearances have been registered from 1996 to 2002 while it got reduced to only 11 disappearances from 2003 to 2005 and only one in 2006,” said the spokesman, adding that the graph on this account has shown “positive decline as every measure has been taken to avoid human rights violation.”

The year wise summery given by the spokesman says: “In 1996 there have been 18 custodial deaths and six custodial disappearances, 1997 recorded six custodial killings and 10 disappearances, in 1998 it has been six and six, in 1999 the figures stood at six and 11, in 2000 it was 18 and 10, in 2001 the figures recorded have been 17 and six, in 2002 it was recorded at 12 and 17, in 2003 it has been eight and seven, in 2004 the figures stood at nine and three, in 2005 custodial killings and disappearances have been recorded at seven and one respectively, and in 2006 only four custodial killings and one disappearance has been reported.”
NEWS IN BRIEF
· MAN SHOT DEAD 

December 28: Suspected ultras on December 28 morning abducted and later shot dead a man of Sealdar village of Gool in Udhampur district while security forces and police in a joint search operation recovered six RPG rockets from Nowshera.
 
The deceased has been identified as Mohammad Ashraf Chopan of Sealdar village of Gool in Doda district.

 
Reports said Chopan was killed on the suspicion of being an informer of security forces. 
· CRPF JAWAN COMMITS SUICIDE 

SRINAGAR, December 29: A Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) personal posted at Humhama in central Budgam district ended his life thus adding one more to the number of suicides committed by security personnel this year.

 
Parmeshwar Chaubey, the CRPF constable who chose to shoot himself by his service rifle in Humhama camp of CRPF's 122 Battalion had returned to duty only last week. Though Chobay was quickly rushed to Sher-i-Kashmir Institute of Medical Sciences, Soura, in critical condition, he succumbed to his injuries in the hospital.
· RR MANHANDLES OFFICIALS 

December 3:  Personnel of Army’s Rashtriya Rifles (RR) barged into the Sheep Breeding Farm of Animal Husbandry at Dachigam, on the outskirts of Srinagar, on December 2, and allegedly thrashed a doctor and manhandled officials there.

Reports said the RR men from a local camp forced their entry into the farm and asked the 52 officials present there to raise their hands. 

 
"They manhandled many officials and severely thrashed Dr Muhammad Maroof," eyewitness.
· RESIDENTS ALLEGE HARASSMENT BY RR 
BARAMULLA, December 13: Accusing the Rashtriya Rifles troops of harassment, the residents of many areas of Pattan in north Kashmir’s Baramulla district have sought official intervention.

Residents of Chanderhama, Yatoopora, Lilipora and Gushbugh are all fire against the soldiers of a camp of RR situated at Hyderbeigh Chanderhama road. “They have made our lives a hell, they harass us unnecessarily” residents said. They said the soldiers detain vehicles frequently and subject passengers to questioning. 

The residents alleged the troops have made their life difficult with frequent harassment of men and women. 
“They ask the women to lift their veil and also search their purses,” they said, seeking intervention of civil and police authorities.
· BSF BEATS CIVILIANS, 12 INJURED

SRINAGAR, December 24: Border Security Force (BSF) personnel severely thrashed civilians during a crackdown at Chrarwani in Charar-e-Sharief wounding 11 persons. According to news reports, the troops of 42 batallion BSF cordoned off the area and asked people to come out of their homes. “They paraded the people in chilly weather inside a school compound,” reports said, adding the soldiers, without any provocation, severely thrashed the people, wounding of them.
· TWO PERSONS DETAINED 

December 25: Troops of Army’s 3rd battalion of Rashtriya Rifles detained Manzoor Ahmad Khan and Azim Khan at Ashumuqam in Islamabad district on December 24.

· REMOVE THE BUNKER

December 22:  Residents of Safa Kadal did not offer Friday prayers in a local mosque to press for their demand for removal of a CRPF bunker there. News reports said personnel of CRPF’s 37 battalion have erected bunkers around the mosque, causing inconvenience to the Nimazis. The residents many a time staged demonstrations demanding shifting of the bunker. However no action was taken in this regard. Divisional Commissioner Basharat Ahmad Dhar said he has taken up the matter with the CRPF.
IED EXPLOSIONS

· CHILDREN KILLED IN LANDMINE BLAST 

POONCH, December 24: At least two children were killed in a landmine explosion near the Line of Control (LoC) in the border district of Poonch in Jammu, official sources said. Official sources said two children, identified as Muhammad Munsi, 12 and Munna, 14 were playing when the blast took place. Both died on the spot.  

· ENGINEER KILLED IN IED EXPLOSION
SRINAGAR, December 29: An engineer was killed in an IED explosion at Mirza Kamil Chowk at Hawal, Srinagar. 

 
The deceased was identified as Shabir Hussain Khan of Bagwanpora-Lal Bazar. The incident occurred at 11.15 AM. 

 
Reports said the IED was concealed in sand near a graveyard. When the blast occurred Shabir was traveling on a motorcycle. He was critically injured. The engineer was removed to Soura medical institute, where he succumbed to his injuries. 

· LABOURERS DISAPPEAR 
December 24: Reports said Nasir Ahmad Khan son of Ghulam Muhammad of Pattan and Altaf Ahmad Khan of Ghulam Muhammad of Tangmarg went missing after they left for work on December 18. 

Their relatives searched for them at all possible places but in vain. A case was registered and police started investigation. 
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	DATE
	CUSTODIAL AND EXTRA JUDICIAL KILLINGS
	WOMEN
	CHILDREN
	ALLEGED DISAPPEARANCES

	Dec 3
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Dec 4
	1 CK
	-
	-
	-

	Dec 15 
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Dec 24
	-
	-
	2
	-

	Total
	1
	1
	3
	0


KILLINGS IN THE MONTH OF DECEMBER 2006
	DATE
	SOLDIERS
	MILITANTS
	CIVILIANS
	OTHERS

	Dec  01
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Dec 02
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Dec 03
	-
	1
	2
	-

	Dec 04
	-
	5
	3
	-

	Dec 05
	-
	2
	1
	-

	Dec 06
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Dec 07
	-
	1
	1
	-

	Dec 08
	-
	3
	2
	-

	Dec 09
	1
	3
	1
	-

	Dec 10
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Dec 11
	-
	2
	1
	-

	Dec 12
	-
	-
	-
	2 dead bodies recovered 

	Dec 13
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Dec 14
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Dec 15
	-
	4
	1
	-

	Dec 16
	3
	-
	2
	-

	Dec 17
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Dec 18
	1
	3
	-
	-

	Dec 19
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Dec 20
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Dec 21
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Dec 22
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Dec 23
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Dec 24
	-
	3
	3
	-

	Dec 25
	-
	-
	-
	1 political activist 

	Dec 26
	1
	-
	1
	-

	Dec 27
	-
	2
	1
	-

	Dec 28
	-
	3
	1
	-

	Dec 29
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Dec 30
	1
	-
	1
	-

	Dec 31
	-
	2
	1
	-

	TOTAL
	11
	34
	24
	3


CHRONOLOGY OF DECEMBER 2006
	Dec 1
	A senior Army officer Lt. Colonel Pankaj Jha allegedly committed suicide in Mahore area of Jammu provision.

	Dec 2
	No incident of violence reported from any part of J&K.

	Dec 3
	One LeT militant and two civilians including a woman were killed in violence related incidents in the state.

	Dec 4
	Two HM, one JeM and one unknown militant and two civilians were killed in violence related incidents across the state while an alleged custodial killing of a civilian reported from Kishtwar.

	Dec 5
	Two militants of Al Badr and one civilian were killed in different incidents of violence.

	Dec 6
	A Punjabi carpenter was stabbed by unknown persons in Tibet Colony – Hawal, Srinagar.

	Dec 7
	One militant and a civilian were killed in separate incidents of violence in the sate.

	Dec 8
	Three militants including two of LeT and two civilians were killed in various incidents of violence.

	Dec 9
	Three militants including one HM commander, an army soldier and a civilian were killed in separate incidents of violence in the state.

	Dec 10
	A boy was shot at and injured critically by an army man at Qazigund, Anantnag.

	Dec 11
	Two Hizb militants and woman were killed in different violence related incidents across the valley.

	Dec 12
	Police recovered two dead bodies from two separate places of Valley.

	Dec 13
	No incident of violence reported.

	Dec 14
	No incident of violence reported from any part of the state.

	Dec 15
	Four militants including two HM militants and a girl were killed in different incidents of violence in the state.

	Dec 16
	Three troopers including a Colonel and two civilians were killed in separate incidents of violence.

	Dec 17
	Army shot dead an old man in Anantnag district.

	Dec 18
	Three militants killed in violence related incidents while a trooper committed suicide.

	Dec 19
	One trooper committed suicide by shooting himself dead with his official rifle in Baramulla.

	Dec 20
	No incident of violence reported.

	Dec 21
	No incident of violence reported.

	Dec 22
	No incident of violence reported.

	Dec 23
	One army Commanding Officer was killed in an encounter with militants in Baramulla.

	Dec 24
	Three militants and a civilian were killed in violence related incidents. While two children were killed in a blast they were fiddling with at Jhalas, Poonch.

	Dec 25
	An Awami League activist and contractor, Mohan Lal Bhandari was shot dead by militants at Chingam in Chatru area of Doda.

	Dec 26
	A trooper and a civilian were killed in violence related incidents.

	Dec 27
	Two Let militants and a civilian a driver by profession were killed in separate incidents of violence in the state.

	Dec 28
	Three militants believed to be of LeT and a civilian were killed in separate incident of violence.

	Dec 29
	Paramilitary trooper of CRPF ends his life by committed suicide at Humhama, Budgam.

	Dec 30
	One civilian and SHO of Pampore police station was killed in violence related incidents in valley.

	Dec 31
	Two militants and a civilian were killed in violence related incidents in the state.



  
WOMEN – CHILDREN KILLED


Dec 3: A woman Shama Akthar d/o Ghulam Hassan r/o Prem Nagar, Doda was killed in crossfire between militants and troops. 


Dec 15: Two suspected militants entered into the house of Mohd Misri at village Chandiyal in Sangiot area under the jurisdiction of Gursai police station in Mendhar tehsil and kidnapped his young daughter Gulshan Bano. 


         The gunmen were chased by the villagers, which resulted in to altercation and in provocation militants shot dead the girl. 


Dec 24: At least two children were killed in a landmine explosion near the Line of Control (LoC) in the border district of Poonch in Jammu on Sunday evening official sources said here. Official sources said two children, identified as Muhammad Munsi (12) and Munna (14), were playing when the blast took place. Both died on the spot. (UNI) 
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